2002

Wills v. Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

This is an interlocutory appeal from an Order denying the defendant's Motion to Dismiss (R. 73-75; Addendum A) the plaintiffs' complaint on jurisdictional grounds. The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter one over which the Utah Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction. Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j)(Supp. 2001).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Does the failure to direct and deliver a notice of claim to the Utah Attorney General at his office violate the Utah Governmental Immunity Act?

Standard of Review: This Court "review[s] the district court's denial of defendants' Motion to Dismiss for correctness, granting no deference to the district court's ruling." Pendleton v. State Bar, 2000 UT 96, ¶5, 16 P.3d 1230.

II. Does the failure to strictly comply with the notice of claim provision of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act deny the trial court subject matter jurisdiction?

Standard of Review: This Court "review[s] the district court's denial of defendants' Motion to Dismiss for correctness, granting no deference to the district court's ruling." Pendleton v. State Bar, 2000 UT 96, ¶5, 16 P.3d 1230.

The defendant raised and preserved both issues in its Motion to Dismiss (R. 17-30), which the trial court denied (R. 73-75; Addendum A).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

All relevant text of statutes and rules pertinent to the issues before the court is contained in the body of this brief.

Utah Code Annotated § 63-30-2(9) is determinative and reads in relevant part as follows:

As used in this chapter:

“State” means the state of Utah, and includes any office, department, agency, authority, commission, board, institution, hospital, college university, or other instrumentality of the state.

Utah Code Annotated § 63-30-11(2) is determinative and reads in relevant part as follows:

Any person having a claim for injury against a governmental entity . . . shall file a notice of claim . . . before maintaining an action

Utah Code Annotated § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(E) is determinative and reads in relevant part as follows:

The notice of claim be:
 (ii) directed and delivered to:
 (E) The attorney general, when the claim is
 against the State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The plaintiffs, Donald T. and Rita Wills (“the Wills”), were injured on December 20, 2000, as a result of an automobile/train collision with the defendant Heber Valley

Historic Railroad (“the Railroad”) (R. 3-7). On June 21, 2001, the Wills sent a notice of claim to: “Attorney General, State of Utah, 160 East 300 South, 5th Floor, Salt Lake City, Utah, 84114-0873” (R. 17-21). The Attorney General himself is not officed at this location. On November 30, 2001, the Wills filed their Complaint and served it upon the Attorney General at 236 State Capitol, Salt Lake City, Utah 84114 on December 5, 2001, where his office is located (R. 3-10;14-16).

On December 21, 2001, the Railroad filed its Motion to Dismiss (R. 17-30), pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, arguing that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the Wills had failed to comply with the notice provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act (“the Immunity Act”) see Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(E). On January 30, 2002, the trial court heard argument (R. 72) and concluded: (1) the case would not be dismissed on a technicality, and (2) because the statute does not name the Attorney General specifically, sending the notice of claim to a division within the Attorney General’s office constitutes compliance with the Immunity Act.

The Order denying the Motion to Dismiss was entered on February 8, 2002 (R. 73-75; Addendum A). The Railroad filed a timely Petition for Interlocutory Appeal which was granted on April 17, 2002. The Wills then filed a Motion for Summary Disposition on April 25, 2002. This Court deferred decision on the Motion for Summary Disposition by order dated on May 14, 2002.

II. Statement of Relevant Facts

The only facts relevant to the issue before the Court for decision are the procedural facts stated above.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying the Railroad's Motion to Dismiss. As a precondition to suit against the state of Utah or one of its agencies, a notice of claim must be served upon **the** Attorney General. A notice of claim addressed to "Attorney General," but delivered to a remote division within his office does not meet the Immunity Act's requirements.

The plain language of Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(E) requires that a notice of claim be **directed and delivered** to the Attorney General. Implicit in this language is that the notice of claim be delivered to the Attorney General, the actual officeholder, at his physical address, and not to an unnamed or random, division within a satellite office. To conclude otherwise would defeat the purpose of the Immunity Act and violate the legislative intent to create a central and singular recipient for all notices of claim filed against the state of Utah, or its agencies. This result follows logically and consistently from the line of cases requiring strict compliance with the Immunity Act.

The trial court's incorrect conclusion that the Wills complied with the notice of claim requirement must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATUTORY DIRECTION CONTAINED IN THE IMMUNITY ACT IS UNAMBIGUOUS; THE PURPOSE IS CLEAR.

A court's primary objective in interpreting a statute is to give effect to the legislative intent, as evidenced by the plain language of the statute, and in light of the purpose the statute was meant to achieve. State v. Lusk, 2001 UT 102, ¶19, 37 P.3d 1103. The notice of claim provision is unambiguous, mandatory and directive. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(E). It specifies to whom the notice of claim is to be directed and delivered. In a recent case, this Court stated that when interpreting a statute, a court determines the statute's meaning first by looking to its plain language, and then by giving effect to the plain language unless the language is ambiguous. Blackner v. State of Utah, 2002 UT 44, ¶12, 446 Utah Adv. Rep. 31. Nothing in the Immunity Act's notice provision is ambiguous. The plain language instructs a claimant to direct **and** deliver a notice of claim to **the** Attorney General. Delivery of a notice of claim to the offices of assistant attorneys general is not compliance with the plain meaning of the Immunity Act.

The Immunity Act establishes a systematic means of receiving and reviewing claims against governmental entities. It permits a claimant to initiate a lawsuit only after he or she follows its requirements, which include filing a notice of claim within one year of the incident giving rise to the claim, filing an undertaking contemporaneous with his or her complaint, and directing and delivering a notice of claim to **the** Attorney General.

The Act's purpose is obvious--to control the receipt of notices of claim by centralizing and directing who may receive, and process, the claim. The Attorney General acts like a registered agent for a corporation--he is the only legal counsel for all state entities, and therefore, may and does direct claims and litigation on behalf of his clients. It is the Attorney General himself who must be served rather than a random office or division. As this Court stated there is no confusion as to "how, what, when and to whom a party must direct a Notice" Greene v. Utah Transit Authority, 2001 UT 109, ¶15, 37 P.3d 1156.

The notice of claim must be directed to the Attorney General **and** delivered to him; both components of the statute must be met in order for the Immunity Act's requirements to be satisfied.

II. THERE IS NO SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION WITHOUT STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH THE IMMUNITY ACT.

Compliance with the notice of claim provision of the Immunity Act confers subject-matter jurisdiction upon the trial court. In other words, the proper filing of a notice of claim is a precondition to suit. Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245, 248 (Utah 1988); Lamarr v. Utah Dep't. of Trans., 828 P.535, 540 (Utah App. 1992). This Court has repeatedly held that failure to strictly comply with the statutory notice provision of the Act results in the litigation's dismissal. In Greene, this Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the suit, holding that "Utah law mandates strict compliance with the Immunity Act." Greene, 2001 UT 109, ¶ 12. Likewise, in Brown v. Utah Transit

Authority, 2002 UT 15, 440 Utah Adv. Rep. 6, a notice of claim received by a transit authority employee was deemed defective because it was sent to the wrong office of the transit authority, and once again the Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal. Finally, in Wheeler v. McPherson, 2002 UT 16, 40 P.3d 632, the trial court dismissed the complaint for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction even though the plaintiffs had provided notice to all three county commissioners, receipt of which was acknowledged by a county employee, but not the county clerk as the statute required. This Court again affirmed the dismissal of the litigation on jurisdictional grounds, stating that:

in conformity with our long established jurisprudence construing the statute— and with our recent interpretation of the 1998 amendment in Greene— we reiterate today that the Immunity Act demands strict compliance with its requirements to allow suit against governmental entities. The notice of claim provision, particularly, neither contemplates nor allows for anything less.

Wheeler, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 13.

This Court has made clear through its established line of cases that strict compliance with the Immunity Act is mandated and failure to so comply denies the trial court subject-matter jurisdiction, thus requiring dismissal of the litigation.

CONCLUSION

The plain language of the Immunity Act's notice provisions directs how, when, where and to whom a notice of claim is to be served. In claims involving the state of Utah or its agencies, the notice of claim must be directed and delivered to the Attorney