2002

Wills v. Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

This matter is before the Court on interlocutory appeal. This is a personal injury action commenced by plaintiffs, who were severely injured in a collision when defendant's engine pulled in front of them without sounding a statutorily required warning. The district court correctly denied defendant's Motion to Dismiss on the basis that plaintiffs strictly complied with the Governmental Immunity Act in delivering a notice of claim to the attorney general prior to filing suit. The trial court therefore properly determined as a matter of fact and law that it had jurisdiction over the case.

JURISDICTION

Plaintiffs agree that the Court has jurisdiction as set forth in defendant's brief. (Brief of Appellant at iii).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Plaintiffs are dissatisfied with the statement of the issues contained in the Brief of Appellant. The issues and the standard of review in this case are incorrectly stated. The correct issues are:

1. Did the trial court properly find as a matter of fact that the attorney general has an office in the Heber M. Wells Building thus rendering service of the notice of claim on him there proper?

Standard of Review:

Where a factual determination underpins a decision on a motion to dismiss, the appellate court will accept the factual determination unless it is clearly erroneous.

Thompson v. County of Franklin, 15 F.3d 245, 249 (2nd Cir. 1994); *M.D. Physicians and Assocs. v. State Board of Insurance*, 957 F.2d 178, 181 (5th Cir. 1992); *See, Griffith v. Griffith*, 985 P.2d 255, 258 (Utah 1999) (standard of review for factual determinations underlying rulings on motions is clearly erroneous standard.) Plaintiffs agree that a trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness.

2. Is a claim against the Heber Valley Railroad Authority exempt from the Governmental Immunity Act notice requirement because by statute such a claim is not based on liability of the State or a political subdivision?

Standard of Review:

This Court determines interpretation of language in statutes under a correctness standard and makes its own legal conclusions. *State v. Brooks*, 908 P.2d 856, 858-59 (Utah 1995).

STATUTES OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE

In addition to the statute cited in the Brief of Appellee, the following statutes are also of central importance:

Utah Code Annotated Section 68-3-8.5 reads in relevant part.

(1) As used in this section:

(b) "Report" means a report, claim, tax return, statement or other document:

(2) (a) A report or payment required or authorized to be filed or made to the state of Utah, or to any political subdivision of Utah, that is transmitted through the United States mail is considered to be filed or made and received by the state or political subdivisions on the date shown on the post office cancellation mark stamped upon the envelope or other appropriate wrapper containing it.

Utah Code Annotated Section 65-30-2 provides in relevant part:

(1) "Claim" means any claim or cause of action for money or damages against a governmental entity or against an employee.

...

(3) "Governmental entity" means the state and its political subdivisions as defined in this chapter.

Utah Code Annotated Section 9-3-307 provides:

(1) An obligation or liability of the [Heber Valley Railroad] authority does not constitute a debt or liability of this state or of any of its political subdivisions nor does any obligation or liability constitute the loaning of credit of the state or of any of its political subdivisions nor may any obligation or liability of the authority be payable from funds other than those of the authority. All obligations of the

authority shall contain a statement to the effect that the authority is obligated to pay them solely from the revenues or other funds of the authority and that this state or its political subdivisions are not obligated to pay them and that neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of this state or any of its political subdivisions is pledged to the payment of them.

(2) All expenses incurred in carrying out this part shall be payable solely from funds of the authority provided under this part, and nothing in this part may be construed to authorize the authority to incur indebtedness or liability on behalf of or payable by this state or any of its political subdivisions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 19, 2001, plaintiffs mailed a notice of claim addressed as follows:

Attorney General
State of Utah
160 East 300 South, Fifth Floor
Salt Lake City, Utah 84114-0873

(R. 24). The claim was denied about seventy-five days later (R. 43). Plaintiffs filed their complaint on November 30, 2001 (R. 1).

Defendant moved to dismiss plaintiffs' complaint on the ground that the attorney general was not properly noticed (R. 29). The "factual" basis for its motion was solely the unsworn averment of counsel in her memorandum of points and authorities that the attorney general's office is located at the State Capitol and not where the notice of claim was mailed, the Heber Wells Building at 160 East 300 South, Fifth Floor, Salt Lake

City which counsel stated is only a division office (R. 19 & fn.1). Mailing was a proper form of service. (Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-8.5.)

Plaintiffs responded with admissible documentary evidence including official letterhead for “Mark L. Shurtleff, Attorney General” with an address of 160 East 300 South, Fifth Floor, Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 46-47). His predecessor, Jan Graham, had official letterhead listing “Jan Graham, Attorney General,” at the same address, 160 East 300 South, Fifth Floor, Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 48). Counsel received letters under this letterhead which contains no State Capitol address (R. 46-48). The letterhead made no reference to the Heber Wells Building being merely a division office (R. 46-48).

The Utah Attorney General’s official web page at the Utah State Government Home Page lists him as having two offices, one at the Utah State Capitol and one at the Heber M. Wells Building (R. 36-37). The “general office numbers” are listed on the web page (R. 37). The very first office number listed, 366-0300, rings to the Heber Wells Office Building and the receptionist answering the line says, “Attorney General’s Office” (R. 32).

The directory in the lobby of the Heber Wells Building lists the “Attorney General’s Office.” (R. 44, 71.) It does not say anything about a division or any other satellite office; it refers only to the Attorney General in the singular (R. 44, 71). (The cover page of defendant’s opening brief also lists the Heber Wells Building as Mr. Shurtleff’s address.)

After hearing argument on defendant's motion, the trial court found in accordance with plaintiffs' pleadings and exhibits that the evidence conclusively established that the attorney general has an office in the Heber Wells Building even though he also has one in the State Capitol (R. 73. See also R. 31-37; 43-48). Plaintiffs therefore strictly complied with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act notice requirements (*id.*).¹ Based on these facts, the trial court denied the Motion to Dismiss (*id.*).

This Court granted plaintiffs' Petition for Interlocutory Appeal on April 17, 2002. Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Disposition on which this Court by order dated May 14, 2002 deferred its decision pending plenary briefing.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Plaintiffs agree that the facts relevant to the issues are the procedural facts stated above.

¹ There is no foundation in the record for the defendant's statement that the trial court determined 1) the case would not be dismissed on a technicality; and 2) because the statute does not name the attorney general specifically, sending a notice of claim to a division within the Attorney General's Office constitutes compliance with the Immunity Act. (Brief of Appellees at v.) In fact, defendant fails to cite to the record in making this statement. (*Id.*) Accordingly, defendant's statement of the case in this regard is improper and wrong.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant never disputed plaintiffs' documentary and other evidence demonstrating that the attorney general in official documents lists his office at the Heber Wells Building at 160 East 300 South. In fact, defendant presented no evidence contrary to these facts. Defendant merely made an averment in its motion to dismiss pleading that the attorney general's office is at the State Capitol Building and not in the Heber Wells Building. Accordingly, the trial court's finding that the attorney general had an office at the Heber Wells Building and plaintiffs strictly complied with the Immunity Act is a factual finding supported by substantial if not exclusive evidence which finding should not be disturbed on appeal.

Assuming for the sake of argument that there was not strict compliance, the attorney general held himself out in official documents as having an office at the Heber Wells Building. This representation would place this case squarely within the rule estopping governmental entities from presenting a jurisdictional defense of improper notice of a claim.

Finally, again assuming for the sake of argument that there was not strict compliance, the organic statute creating the Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority states that claims made against the authority are not claims against the State. Defendant is therefore exempt from the Governmental Immunity Act notice provisions. Defendant is precluded from incurring liability on behalf of the State of Utah.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND PLAINTIFF'S NOTICE STRICTLY COMPLIED WITH THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT.

A. The Trial Court's Unopposed Factual Finding That the Attorney General Has an Office in the Heber Wells Building Was Not Clearly Erroneous and Should Not Be Disturbed on Appeal.

As noted above, the trial court found plaintiffs strictly complied with the Governmental Immunity Act notice requirements (see Statement of the Case, *ante*, at 5-6.) The court correctly determined plaintiffs met the strict compliance standard enunciated in, *e.g.*, *Brown v. Transit Authority*, 2002 UT 15 ¶ 4, 40 P.3d 638 and *Greene v. Utah Transit Authority*, 2001 UT 109, ¶ 12, 37 P.3d. 1156. (*See also*, *Thimmes v. Utah State University*, 2001 UT App. 93, ¶ 7, 22 P.3d. 257. See R. 73; R. 31-37; 43-48.)

The trial court based its finding on undisputed facts that the attorney general has an office in the Heber Wells building and can be served there. Since this finding was not clearly erroneous, it should not be disturbed on appeal. (*Department of Human Services ex rel. Parker v. Irizarry*, 945 P.2d 676, 678 (Utah 1997).) “[W]hile in reviewing a mixed finding of fact and law appellate ‘courts are free to make an independent determination of the trial court’s conclusions,’ . . . the trial court’s factual finding shall not be set aside on appeal unless clearly erroneous.” *Id.* citing *State v. Tyler*,

850 P.2d 1250, 1253 (Utah 1993) (quoting *State v. Templin*, 805 P.2d 182, 186 (Utah 1990)).

The district court found and the record establishes without contradiction that the attorney general unambiguously identified his Heber Wells offices as his offices, not as some branch office, on his letterhead, on his official web page and on his sign (R. 36-37, 44, 46-47, 71). In fact, the Brief of Appellant does the same thing on its cover page. Plaintiffs therefore strictly complied with the notice provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act by sending a claim to where the evidence showed the attorney general had an office -- the Heber Wells Building address.

Defendant presented no facts in opposition to this finding but merely made an unsupported statement in its memorandum that the attorney general had offices in the Capitol. (R. 19 & fn. 1.) Plaintiffs are aware of no statutes or regulations designating the State Capitol as the attorney general's only office. Given the overwhelming evidence supporting jurisdiction, the trial court's decision that it had power to hear the case was not clearly erroneous. The court therefore correctly concluded that plaintiffs strictly complied with the notice provisions of Utah Code Annotated, § 63-30-11.²

² The terms "attorney general" in the statute are not capitalized. This raises an interesting issue of whether the legislature intended that a notice of claim be directed to "the Attorney General" as a person or merely to the attorney general as a state agency or office. The Utah Constitution in designating the "Attorney General" uses initial capital letters to describe the person holding the office. Utah Const. Art. VII, sections 16 and 18. As a matter of style, titles of persons are capitalized (GPO Style Manual, Section 3.36, a Uniform System of Citation, 16th Edition, Section 6.2 "Capitalization." (Also known as

B. Even If There Were Not Strict Compliance with the Notice Provision (And There Was) Defendant Is Estopped from Denying Proper Notice Because of Specific, Official Representations That He Has an Office in the Heber Wells Building.

Assuming for the sake of argument that there was not strict compliance with the Immunity Act, defendant is estopped from raising the issue. This Court recently affirmed that even though the Immunity Act requires strict compliance, a governmental entity can be estopped from asserting insufficiency of notice of claim as a jurisdictional defense where its statements “mislead plaintiffs into filing a notice of claim incorrectly.” (*Wheeler v. McPherson*, 2002 UT 16 ¶¶ 17-18, 40 P.3d. 632.) The government can be estopped when there are “very specific written representations by authorized government entities.” *Anderson v. Public Service Commission*, 839 P.2d 822, 827 (Utah 1992). This exception to the general rule against estopping governmental entities applies ‘where it is plain that the ends of justice so require.’” (*Eldredge v. Utah State Retirement Board*, 795 P.2d. 671, 675 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (quoting *Utah State University v. Stro & Co.*, 646 P.2d, 715, 720 (Utah 1982))). See *Thimmes*, *supra* at ¶ 8.)

In this case, the explicit written representations of the attorney general in publications to the public at large and in specific correspondence on his letterhead (and in his brief in this case) all showed the Heber Wells Building as his address. These

the “Bluebook.”) The lack of capitalization in the statute thus indicates that as long as the notice is directed to an attorney general office rather than to the sitting Attorney General, it is valid. However, that need not be decided in this case because the notice was directed and delivered to the “Attorney General.”

documents certainly satisfy the elements of estoppel as a matter of law. It would be reasonable for anyone to rely upon his written definitions of where his address is. The plain ends of justice would require estoppel because if plaintiffs' claims were dismissed they would have no remedy for their injuries.

II.

DEFENDANT HAD NO STANDING TO MOVE TO DISMISS THE MOTION BECAUSE PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM WAS NOT A CLAIM AGAINST THE STATE OF UTAH WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE IMMUNITY ACT.³

Again assuming *arguendo* that there was not strict compliance with the Immunity Act's notice requirement, defendant is not entitled to a jurisdictional defense. The Immunity Act applies only to claims against a "governmental entity" meaning "the state and its political subdivisions." (Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-2(1)-(3).) Defendant Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority's enabling act, on the other hand, contains a section which prohibits defendant from incurring liability on behalf of or payable by the State of Utah or any of its political subdivisions.

The statute in question which provides in relevant part:

(1) An obligation or *liability of the authority does not constitute a debt or liability of this state or of any of its political subdivisions*. . . nor may any obligation or liability of the authority be payable from funds other than those of the authority.

³The trial court did not reach this argument because it denied the motion to dismiss on factual grounds.

(2) All expenses incurred in carrying out this part shall be payable solely from funds of the authority provided under this part, and nothing in this part may be construed to authorize the authority to incur indebtedness or *liability on behalf of or payable by this state or any of its political subdivisions*.

Utah Code Annotated § 9-3-307 (emphasis added).

There is no authority construing this statute. However, when given its plain meaning (*Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc.*, 679 P.2d 903, 906 (Utah 1984)), the statute makes the Governmental Immunity Act inapplicable in this case since claims against the Heber Valley Railroad Authority cannot be for “liability on behalf of or payable by this state or any its political subdivisions.” (Utah Code Ann. § 9-3-307(2).) Thus, a claim against defendant is not an “action for damages” against a “governmental entity” within the meaning of the Immunity Act under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-2(1). This is because “governmental entity” means “the state and its political subdivisions” (*id.*) and the Heber Valley Railroad’s liability “does not constitute a debt or liability of this state or of any of its political subdivisions.” (Utah Code Ann. §9-3-307(1).) Defendant’s motion to dismiss is therefore unsustainable. Defendant is not be immune from suit but is liable for its obligations from its own assets as if a private entity.